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Abstract: � Ernestas Galvanauskas – politician, scientist and public figure – is a person little 
known to public opinion not only in Lithuania but also in Poland. However, Lithuanian 
historians and political scientists see him as one of the more influential politicians who 
contributed to the construction of the Lithuanian state, more than Prime Minister Augusti-
nas Voldemaras or President Antanas Smetona. The revival of the Lithuanian state is in-
extricably linked with the person of E. Galvanauskas. He was involved in the process of 
modernization of Klaipeda, led to the development of Lithuanian economics, which he 
applied in practice to manage the country’s economy. The research objective of this article 
is an in-depth analysis of the diplomatic activities of E. Galvanauskas in relation to the Hy-
mans plan while he was Prime Minister of the government and Minister of Foreign Affairs. 
The Polish literature on the subject lacks sources concerning the history of Lithuania and 
Lithuanian-Polish relations in the interwar period, especially in the context of E. Galva-
nauskas’ political activity.
Keywords�: Ernestas Galvanauskas, Polish-Lithuanian relations, League of Nations, Hy-
mans plan
Streszczenie:� Ernestas Galvanauskas – polityk, naukowiec i osoba publiczna – jest postacią 
mało znaną opinii społecznej nie tylko na Litwie, ale i w Polsce. Litewscy historycy i politolo-
gowie postrzegają go jednak jako jednego z bardziej wpływowych polityków, który przyczy-
nił się do budowania państwowego bytu litewskiego, bardziej niż premier Augustinas Vol-
demaras czy prezydent Antanas Smetona. Odrodzenie państwa litewskiego nierozerwalnie 
wiąże się z osobą E. Galvanauskasa. Był on zaangażowany w proces modernizacji Kłajpedy, 
doprowadził do rozwoju ekonomii litewskiej, którą zastosował w praktyce do zarządzania 
gospodarką kraju. Cel badawczy niniejszego artykułu stanowi pogłębiona analiza działalno-
ści dyplomatycznej E. Galvanauskasa wobec planu Hymansa, w czasie gdy pełnił on funk-
cje premiera rządu oraz ministra sprawa zagranicznych. W polskiej literaturze przedmiotu 
brakuje źródeł dotyczących problematyki dziejów Litwy i relacji litewsko-polskich w okresie 
międzywojennym, zwłaszcza w kontekście aktywności politycznej E. Galvanauskasa. 
Słowa kluczowe: � Ernestas Galvanauskas, stosunki polsko-litewskie, Liga Narodów, plan 
Hymansa
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In 1918, Poland and Lithuania regained their independence. The Polish 
government put forward a proposal to create a common state, which the 
Lithuanian government rejected. Between the two revived States there 
was an armed conflict, and the subject of the dispute was the nationali-
ty of the border areas. After the end of the Polish-Lithuanian conflict, the 
lands  of southeastern Lithuania together with Vilnius were recognized as 
part of Lithuania under the Suwałki agreement, but Poland did not comply 
with the provisions and in October 1920 there was the so-called Żeligowski 
rebellion, as a result of which the Vilnius region was occupied. After the 
failure of the inter-state peace negotiations, the League of Nations began to 
normalize the situation. Paul Hymans, President of the League of Nations, 
presented on May 20, 1921, his own peace proposal. It involved the crea-
tion of two national cantons out of Lithuania, with the capital in Vilnius, 
and the linking of the state thus created with Poland, which was largely 
a replication of the Polish federation idea propounded by Polish Marshal 
Józef Pilsudski. In the face of the continuing lack of agreement, on Septem-
ber 3, P. Hymans proposed the autonomy of Vilnius region within Lith-
uania, which was rejected by Poland. Finally, on September 21, 1921, the 
League of Nations ended all attempts to settle the dispute, on February 3, 
1923 it decided to divide the so-called neutral belt zone between the two 
sides, and on March 15, 1923 the Conference of Ambassadors, implement-
ing the provisions of Article 87 of the Treaty of Versailles, decided to rec-
ognise the Polish borders. 

The research objective of this article is to analyse the diplomatic activ-
ities of politician Ernestas Galvanauskas towards the Hymans plan. The 
article also discusses the foreign policy pursued by E. Galvanauskas in the 
crucial years of 1920–1921 in Lithuania. It was a period of trying to rebuild 
Polish-Lithuanian relations, mainly in the context of Vilnius. By examin-
ing selected cases from the perspective of political actors, this article can 
help explain why some of their decisions deviated from traditional consen-
sus-based international foreign policy. The scope of the article delineates 
the Kaunas–Warsaw conflict. The subject matter, on the other hand, refers 
to the silhouette of the politician E. Galvanauskas. The territorial scope in-
cludes Lithuanian lands and areas under the Lithuanian administration 
(among others the territory of Klaipeda) and the lands of the Second Re-
public and the area under the Polish administration (among others Vilni-
us region). The chronological framework of the research field defines the 
years 1920–1921.
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The realisation of the research objectives was made possible by the im-
plementation of the historical method, which is used to establish a histori-
cal fact. This analysis provides a starting point for further research. The re-
search hypothesis formulated in the article is based on the assumption that 
the diplomatic activity of E. Galvanauskas was based on interests contrary 
to the far-right nationalist opposition, headed by Antanas Smetona.

1. Political biography of Ernestas Galvanauskas (1882–1967)

After obtaining his matriculation in Mintawa in 1902, E. Galvanauskas be-
gan his studies at the Forestry Institute in St. Petersburg. In the same year, 
he became a member of the Lithuanian Democratic Party. In 1905, he was 
a representative of the Farmers’ Union, and thanks to his active work and 
involvement in representing their affairs, he became a representative of the 
Great Seimas of Vilnius (“Lietuvos ukininkas” 1906: 528). In his memoirs 
about the Vilnius Seimas, he wrote: 

During the speech, each party tried to attract as many supporters as possible, 
each struggled with other groups, each offered something, but none paid much 
attention to what should be required and what will serve the Lithuanian peo-
ple. The Vilnius Seimas was the place where the first encounters between all 
Lithuanian parties took place, they [political parties – M.M.] were not prepared 
and were not willing to cooperate, each had its own ambitions. In such condi-
tions, even long-term issues were insoluble, they became the object of inevita-
ble sharp clashes (Audėnas 1990: 7).1

On the basis of the above, a few comments can be made. First of all, one 
can see the first important feature of E. Galvanauskas’ personality: through-
out his career on the Lithuanian political scene, he avoided intrigues and 
political games. For this reason, he is relatively unrecognised in Lithuanian 
history and political thought. Secondly, he did not write political mani-
festos or create political programs. In fact, he was more of a political per-
former than an ideologue. Therefore, in Lithuanian literature, there are no 
collections of his quotations or memoirs, unlike A. Smetona or Augustinas 

1	  All translations from the Lithuanian language come from the author of the article. 
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Voldemaras. However, his influence on governments is felt in all the most 
important events of Lithuanian history, beginning in 1919 until at least 1926. 
(Varnas 2018). 

For his active political activity, including participation in the Vilnius 
Seimas, he was repressed by the Tsarist administration. In 1906, he was 
arrested and imprisoned in Poniewież for several months. In 1908, realiz-
ing that he could no longer come to Lithuania and the Russian Empire, he 
emigrated to Belgium, where he continued his engineering studies at the 
Technical University of Liège. In 1912, he graduated as a mining engineer, 
and as an electrical engineer in 1913 (Banevičius 1991: 58). Unable to find 
employment, fascinated by the mountains and the Balkan climate, he left 
for Serbia, where in 1914 he was employed by a  French-Serbian railway 
company. During the coming Great War, like most political activists, he em-
igrated to Western Europe. In 1916, he moved to Paris where he worked as 
an electrical engineer. In the capital of France began his second instalment 
of the political road. There he met a Lithuanian diplomat and delegate to 
Paris Osakaras Milašius, who offered him a job as a secretary in the Lithua-
nian delegation to the ongoing peace conference in Paris (E. Galvanauskas 
spoke French very well). Ernestas Galvanauskas was responsible not only 
for the preparation of state texts for the Paris conference but also for the at-
tire and representative appearance of A. Voldemaras, which also influenced 
the creation of his external image in Paris (Klimas 1990: 159).

From a political point of view, E. Galvanauskas assisted the Lithuanian 
delegation. The sympathy of the Lithuanian delegates won by him was 
not only due to his dedication and diligence in favour of the delegation 
headed by A.  Voldemaras but above all due to the fact that for a  long 
time, he was a non–partisan person, which made him politically impar-
tial – this inspired greater confidence. In 1912, E. Galvanauskas went to 
the European Congress of Socialists in Lucerne. After the conference, he 
was invited by Jonas Vileišis, head of the Lithuanian delegation, to Berlin 
for negotiations on a loan to the Lithuanian government for his activities. 
In June 1991, E. Galvanauskas, under the persuasion of J. Vileišis, returned 
to Lithuania to soon take up the post of Prime Minister. At this point, it is 
worth noting that E. Galvanauskas gained great sympathy and recogni-
tion from the head of the delegation J. Vileišis, who recommended him to 
perform the highest functions in the state, presented him as a loyal, hard-
working person, and most importantly  – not belonging to any political 
party (Martišius 2003: 118).
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2. Consequences of the crisis in the Cabinet of Minister Mykolas 
Sleževičius

The initial stage of his political career professionally prepared E.  Galva-
nauskas for work in the administrative, diplomatic and economic spheres. 
At the beginning of September 1919, a  crisis broke out in the Cabinet of 
Mykolas Sleževičius, as the government did not cope with new challenges 
in the international arena. For this reason, the opposition demanded chang-
es. On September 30, 1919, President A. Smeton ordered an extraordinary 
meeting in the Seimas, where all representatives of Lithuanian parties gath-
ered. During the meeting, A. Smeton proposed the formation of a govern-
ment for E. Galvanauskas, because – according to the political tactics of the 
president – a non-partisan candidate could unite the polarized Lithuanian 
political elite. On October 7, 1919, E. Galvanauskas formed the fifth Lithua-
nian government, and on April 19, 1920 A. Smetona transferred the post of 
head of state to Alexander Stulginsk (Grinius 1954: 211). Due to the economic 
crisis in the country in early 1921, E. Galvanauskas assumed the position 
of Minister of Finance with the approval of the new President. Lithuania 
lacked professional diplomats, which is why E. Galvanauskas decided to be 
the head of the Lithuanian delegation in Brussels and in Geneva during ne-
gotiations with the Polish delegation (“Akiraščiai” 1973: 53).

At this point it is worth asking why, in January 1921, E. Galvanauskas de-
cided to take responsibility in diplomatic negotiations with Poland in favour 
of the Hymans plan. Both the ruling party and the opposition on January 21, 
1921 jointly expressed their resentment to A. Smetona that his friend and clos-
est collaborator Minister A. Voldemaras was passive in the League of Nations. 
Having learned of this, A. Voldemaras resigned the same day as the head of 
the Lithuanian delegation to the League of Nations. President A. Smetona 
offered the position to E. Galvanauskas, who officially headed the Lithuanian 
delegation to the League of Nations on February 1, 1921 (Bukaitė 2016: 178). 
The diplomat in Paris, Petras Klimas, wrote about this event in his memorial:

Doubts arose about the new helmsman of Lithuanian diplomacy because Volde- 
maras was our greatest intellectual force in the League of Nations. He was still 
homo novus for us as an overly abstract thinker, a dialectician. In addition, he 
retired from public activity, sensing that he and his political group were losing 
popularity in the Seimas. For this reason, it was necessary to look for a more 
responsible representative in the government (1990: 293). 
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It can be concluded that the main reason for the departure of A. Voldemaras 
was the decline in his popularity and authority among his closest associa-
tes, therefore he became passive both in the Seimas and in the government, 
which eventually led to the loss of his position in 1920.

3. Vilnius case at the League of Nations forum

Already at the beginning of the negotiations, when plans for a  plebi-
scite on the territory of Vilnius were being drawn up in the Council of 
the League of Nations, E. Galvanauskas demanded from the members of 
the Council that the consequences of the plebiscite be recognized by the 
Polish side. According to the Lithuanian Prime Minister, Poland has re-
peatedly violated the rules related to the demarcation line. Also on the 
initiative of E. Galvanauskas, an argument arose in the league of Nations 
to postpone the plebiscite. Since at that time, Lithuania still did not have 
a de jure status in the international arena, from a political point of view it 
was Lithuania, unlike Poland, that occupied an unequal position in the 
League of Nations. 

Ernestas Galvanauskas managed to convince all members of the Coun-
cil of the League of Nations on the Vilnius issue that another option was 
needed to resolve the conflict than holding a plebiscite. In his opinion, this 
was to be an option that would be consistent with all previous Council 
resolutions adopted on the dispute between the parties on the Poland–
Lithuania line (Klimas 1990: 296). To this end, both countries should send 
their government representatives to Brussels, where P. Hymans, the Min-
ister of Foreign Affairs of Belgium, headed the mediation between the par-
ties to the conflict.

On May 11, 1921, the first Polish-Lithuanian negotiations concerning 
the Vilnius dispute took place, where P. Hymans proposed his plan (the 
Hymans plan) to both sides. The content of this plan contained the ba-
sic idea of the Swiss model: Lithuania would have to become a federal 
state, formed from two cantons: Vilnius and Kaunas. Foreign, military 
and economic policy in the future should be governed by a common po-
litical body elected by the Lithuanian and Polish parliaments (Hymanso 
projektas vyriausiuose kr. d. p. organuose 1928: 6–8). The second thesis of 
the plan indicated that Klaipeda and its port would be used by the Polish 
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side without any customs restrictions. In response, E. Galvanauskas sta-
ted that this was a good basis for further discussions at the League of Na-
tions forum, but he was afraid that from an economic point of view, eco-
nomically stronger Poland would absorb Lithuania with its power and 
would not pay Lithuanian customs duties to the Treasury, which would 
ultimately weaken the Lithuanian economy (Galva 1982: 17). Both sides 
rejected the project, but it is worth deepening the histographic analysis, 
which shows that E. Galvanauskas did not reject the project of Hymans 
in its entirety (Valsonokas 1989: 8). 

Ernestas Galvanauskas understood well the vision offered by the me-
diator P. Hymans, who saw Lithuania as a state-province under the care 
of the pro-Western orientation of Poland. For this reason, E. Galvanau-
skas went on to say that negotiations could proceed according to this 
project, but without Federation elements. At the same time, he reported 
that negotiations with Poland could be conducted as follows: first, to sign 
an agreement on the protection of minorities in Lithuania and Poland on 
the basis of the basic, relevant agreement concluded in Versailles, and 
secondly, to conclude a military defence convention between the parties 
(Jegelavičius 1997: 315).

During the session of the League of Nations on June 21, 1921, directly 
asked by P. Hymans what he thought about remaining under Polish auspi-
ces, E. Galvanauskas replied

that in his opinion the priority was to resolve the conflict by guaranteeing the ri-
ghts of minorities in Kaunas and Lithuania because these places become a nexus 
of conflicts. Secondly, the conclusion of a war convention is intended to limit Po-
land’s defence matters in a potential conflict with Lithuania, i.e. the conclusion of 
a so-called non-aggression agreement against Lithuania. On the issue of Klaipe-
da, he completely refused to conduct any negotiations on this issue (Jegelavičius 
1997: 316).

Other elements of the project, according to E. Galvanauskas, were worth 
discussing, which in effect constituted a modus vivendi. Therefore, in the then 
situation, the satisfied Council of the League of Nations passed a resolution 
on June 28, 1921, according to which talks on the Hymans plan were to be 
continued at the next session of the Council in Brussels.
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4. Effects of diplomatic activity of Ernestas Galvanauskas

The Hymans plan caused a loud resonance in Lithuania. At the beginning 
of September 1919, unrest reigned in the capital, opposition pressure on 
E. Galvanauskas ordered him not to allow or continue discussions, as well 
as to enter into further negotiations on the possibility of concluding federal 
or union relations with Poland. The Lithuanian anti-Hymans movement, or-
ganized by the radical wing, i.e. the Lithuanian Social Democratic Party and 
the Party of National Progress, prompted E. Galvanauskas to issue his note 
on July 22, 1921. in which he presented his position on the Hymans plan. 
In the note, he pointed to the actual reasons (raised in Lithuania) for not 
allowing the implementation of the resolution of June 28 (Abromaitis 2004: 
219). Ernestas Galvanauskas’ initiative was also to present another letter to 
the Council of the League of Nations. The note was approved by the Lithu-
anian Seimas, and its main thesis was that in order to continue negotiations 
with Poland on the forum of the League, it is necessary to implement the 
Suwałki Agreement,2 because this agreement guaranteed the confidence of 
the Lithuanian government towards Poland and secured the basis for con-
tinuing negotiations without tension (“Voruta” 2012: 13). The Polish dele-
gation, headed by the Minister at the League of Nations Szymon Askenazy, 
having read the document of E. Galvanauskas, rejected the demands of the 
Lithuanian Prime Minister, which resulted in further fruitless negotiations 
between the parties. 

At the beginning of September 1921, at the autumn session of the League 
of Nations, P. Hymans presented the second version of the plan, the theses of 
which were more favourable for the Lithuanian side. The assumptions of the 
plan were consulted with the representative of Lithuania in England Tomas 
Narusevicius. However, the essence of the plan was not the basis for discus-
sion, it was an agreement that had to be accepted by both sides of the conflict. 
In the second version of the plan, the idea of a canton was abandoned, auto-
nomy was offered to the Vilnius region, it was suggested to establish separate 
general staffs on the territory of Vilnius, their activities would be coordinated 
by both sides and during a potential war Poland would have the right to use 
the Vilnius territory. As a result of pressure from the Council of the League 

2	  The Suwałki agreement established a demarcation line, which granted a significant part 
of the Vilnius Oblast to Lithuania, but not Vilnius, as well as an agreement on the end of the 
war, thus providing for the procedure for the exchange of prisoners of war between the parties.
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of Nations, E. Galvanauskas agreed to continue negotiations towards the se-
cond Hymans plan (Žepkaitė 1980: 148).

In this regard, a new wave of protests against the second Hymans plan 
arose in Lithuania (Dar dėl Ženevos rezoliucijos. Didelis mitingas – demonstraci-
ja Kaune 12.07.1921: 1–3). In political and social meetings, E. Galvanauskas 
was strongly urged not to enter into any Confederal relations with Poland, 
because of which the independence of Lithuania would suffer, and to try to 
keep the issue of Lithuania’s independence with its capital Vilnius on the 
Forum of the League of Nations (Piliečių balsai. Vilkaviškio gyventojų rezoliu-
cija 1921: 3). Therefore, on November 1, 1921, E. Galvanauskas organized 
a conference for delegates to the League of Nations in Kaunas, and on the 
eve he had a meeting in the Seimas with public activists, leaders of parties 
and factions. At the conference, he stated that everyone is determined to 
reject the Hymans plan, both its first and second versions. Their arguments 
were based on internal politics and on strong social reactions against any 
closer union with Poland. The adoption of P.  Hymans’ proposal would 
cause serious confusion which could lead to a national disaster (Lietuvos 
Centrinis Valstybes Archyvas, Lietuvos pasiuntinių konferencijos posėdžio 
protokolas 31.10.1921, f. 383, b. 118). During the conference of delegates, 
E. Galvanauskas also mentioned that in the event of riots, the Lithuanian 
Army is likely to be actively involved in these matters. At the same time, 
he stressed the need for further negotiations on the second Hymans plan, 
since rejecting it would mean the end of mediation, and, consequently, the 
renunciation of Vilnius and the entire country. Further, as the head of the 
delegation stated, this could lead to a war with Poland and the occupation 
of Lithuania as a whole, and then, as he said, We must not forget that if 
Poland loses its independence, Lithuania will not survive as a state entity 
either (I  sesijos 124 posėdis 20.09.1921). At the end of November 1921, an 
appeal was sent to the members of the Lithuanian Seimas by the Lithuanian 
Committee for the Salvation of the Nation. The appeal included a demand 
that the members of the Seimas categorically reject the adoption by the Li-
thuanian government of the second version of the Hymans plan (Kauno 
mitingo nutarimas dėl Hymanso projekto 1921: 6). A few days later, members 
of the Lithuanian government, including E. Galvanauskas, received anony-
mous threats about what would happen if they accepted the proposals of 
the League of Nations (Žepkaitė 1978: 206).

November 24, 1921, Lithuanian social activist Zigmundas Žemaitis ar-
rived at the conference of the factions of the Lithuanian Social Democratic 
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Party and the Peasants’ Union Party, stating that the new Prime Minister of 
the government Kazys Grinius informed him that his cabinet of Ministers 
will consider the issue of the Hymans plan on November 25, and its reso-
lution will not require ratification by the Seimas. At the same time, Z. Žema-
itis feared that the Seimas would only be entitled to ratify treaties prepared 
after the adoption of the draft. Members of the faction were not sure whe-
ther the cabinet of Ministers would not adopt the draft without the know-
ledge of the Seimas, so some members of the faction insisted on guarantees 
that this would not happen, while others expressed no confidence in the 
Cabinet of Ministers of K. Grinius (Steigiamojo Seimo LSLDP ir LVS frakcijų 
bloko protokolas 24.11.1921: 343). The Cabinet of Ministers was tasked on No-
vember 25 to consider the Hymans plan without the knowledge of the Se-
imas and independently of that body to accept it or reject it at a meeting of 
the Masonic lobby. On November 22, Z. Žemaitis was appointed Minister 
without portfolio for Belarusian affairs in the government of Dominik Se-
maška. In a broad sense, Minister D. Semaška wanted to consult not only 
Z.  Žemaitis but also other members of Freemasonry about the Hymans 
plan. It is worth noting that Z. Žemaitis and the Kaunas Lodge, founded on 
February 1, 1920, by Freemasons and former Prime Minister Mikołaj Šležvi-
čius, opted for the adoption of the Hymans plan. Most of the members of 
the Kaunas Masonic Lodge were supporters of the Hymans plan. However, 
Minister D. Semaška, being at the same time a member of the Kaunas Maso-
nic Lodge and an opponent of the Hymans plan, together with the Minister 
of the Interior, Rapolas Skipitis, resigned. 

It is noteworthy that in the Cabinet of Ministers, there was a vast ma-
jority of supporters of the Hymans plan and they planned to accept it with 
minor reservations. Michał Römer, an ardent supporter of the agreement 
with Poland, expressed this in his memorial as follows:

I am aware that there is a need to adopt the Hymans plan, but not in the way 
that the proponents of this cause in the cabinet are promoting it, it is unaccep-
table. This contempt for Lithuanian democracy, the Seimas, the Constitution 
and the establishment on the Lithuanian political scene should not be called 
political actions around the League plan. I understand and would justify the 
decision of the Cabinet of Ministers, which is not afraid to take the initiative of 
a dictator, but the current speculators of the Lithuanian establishment are co-
wardly, they want to achieve the goal by deceiving, cheating and lying, treating 
the principles of Lithuanian democracy as a naive child. I am not surprised that 
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the League of Nations: England and France, convinces the Lithuanian establi-
shment to undertake such methods of action, because they are interested in re-
solving the issue of Vilnius as soon as possible. For this reason, they are looking 
for any way to achieve the goal (Römeris, Miknys, Grigaitienė 2013: 30).

Based on his critical assessment of the political situation in Lithuania, 
M. Römer accused the League of Nations of treating Lithuanian society as 
a nation that must be deceived and cannot be convinced of anything, and 
with this in mind, the Lithuanian government acted in the same way, while 
the League of Nations imposed its proposals on the Lithuanian government. 

November 24, 1921, in order to prevent the adoption of the Hymans plan, 
an attempt was made on the life of the head of the Lithuanian delegation, 
E. Galvanauskas. The explosive was planted on the windowsill of his bedro-
om. During the explosion, E. Galvanauskas was seriously injured. According 
to sources, he was saved by the fact that he was awake during the explosion, 
and turned his back to the window, playing cards. There was no doubt that 
for political reasons E. Galvanauskas was a very inconvenient figure in the 
political arena. The press organ of the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Union paramili-
tary organization “Trimitas” publicly condemned the act of terror, although 
it called it the result of the tense political situation in Lithuania and the con-
sequence of the League of Nations interventionism in the internal political 
affairs of Lithuania (Patamsių riteriai 1921: 3). A member of the Lithuanian 
delegation, P. Klimas, wrote in his memorial that only after 40 years he le-
arned that the attack was organized by several people and indicated their 
names: Balis Sruoga, Jonas Strazda and Miksa Kalmantavičius-Kalmantas. At 
the time of the assassination, the writer B. Sruoga was studying in Munich, 
so it is doubtful that he could have contributed to this act. Another version 
was also mentioned, that the initiator of the attempt was Wincenty Krevė- 
-Mickievčius, and its executor was officer Józef Mikuckis (Čepėnas 1992: 650). 

In 1923, it was revealed that the main perpetrator of the attack was Fe-
liksas Šemeta, an active activist for the independence movement. Together 
with his brothers Alexander and Hipolitas, in the fight against the Western 
Volunteer Army (lit. Bermontininkai), they created the famous “Kužiai” 
group, which militarily supported the Telšiai command and the Janikščiai 
battalion. By the end of October 1923, F. Šemeta fought against the Poles 
and then became the leader of the partisan detachment. As a member of 
the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Union, he cooperated with the Kaunas war co-
unterintelligence. His involvement in the assassination of E. Galvanauskas 

https://www.worldcat.org/search?q=au=%22Ro%CC%88meris%2C%20Mykolas%22
https://www.worldcat.org/search?q=au=%22Grigaitiene%CC%87%2C%20Vaiva%22
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was confirmed by a former member of the Lithuanian Seimas and lawyer 
Zigmund Toliušis. In his memoirs, he wrote that Vladislavas Putvinskis, 
the commander of the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Union, took a particularly ho-
stile position against the Hymans plan. In his opinion, the adoption of the 
Hymans plan would cause Lithuania to enter the orbit of Polish political, 
economic and cultural influence, and in the future Lithuania, as a weaker 
partner for Poland, would lose its independence and be incorporated into 
its territory. In the opinion of Z.  Toliušis, in order for the Hymans plan 
not to be adopted, it was decided to remove the most influential suppor-
ter of the League of Nations solutions  – E.  Galvanauskas. In addition to 
V. Putvinskis, the leadership of the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Association inc-
luded such leaders as: Mikas Mikelewičius, Pranas Klimaitis, Aleksandras 
Marcinkevičius, Liudas Vailionis, Antanas Žmuidžinavičius, however, the 
closest friends of V. Putvinskis were informed about the plan to assassinate 
E. Galvanauskas. As he wrote from Z. Toliušis, W. Putvinskis was a confi-
dant of F. Šemeta, a native of the District of Šiauliai, and it was he who was 
commissioned to carry out the assassination (Toliušis 1968: 178). 

In 1923, after the investigation and clarification of the case and the di-
sclosure of the names of the Bombers by the Kaunas counterintelligence, 
V. Putvinskis advised F. Šemet to leave Lithuania and go to Latvia as soon 
as possible. Then he suggested that from Riga, F. Šemeta get to Moscow in 
order to obtain new identification documents and find work near the Lithu-
anian border. Leaving the country on November 12, 1923, he was arrested 
on the territory of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR). Until Sep-
tember 1924 he was imprisoned in Lubyanka in Moscow. For illegally cros-
sing the Soviet border, he was sentenced to 3 years in a concentration camp 
in Solovki. After serving his sentence, by the second decision of the Supre-
me Court of the USSR, he was deported to Tulun in Siberia for 10 years. In 
the forced labour camp in Irkutsk, where he worked as a carpenter in the 
city library, he was accused in 1938 of promoting Trotskyism and sentenced 
to another 3 years in a forced labour camp. He was soon accused of spying 
for Trotsky’s supporters, which served as evidence for his conviction and 
execution (Žadeikytė 2013).

Antanas Gravgrokas, a member of the central board of the Lithuanian 
Riflemen’s Union, participated in the organization of the assassination at-
tempt on the head of the Lithuanian diplomacy. His son Vytautas Gravgro-
kas mentioned that his father and captain Antanas Petruškevičius and ano-
ther unidentified person, a  member of the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Union, 
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detonated an explosive (Anton von Gravrock asmeninis archyvas, Atsimi-
nimai 2015). In 1905, A. Gravgrokas was a member of the praesidium of the 
Great Seimas of Vilnius, he was actively involved in revolutionary events. 
At the beginning of 1921, he joined the ranks of the Lithuanian Riflemen’s 
Union, and at the time of organizing the attempt on the life of E. Galvanau-
skas, he served as editor of the press organ of the Lithuanian Riflemen’s 
Union, “Trimitas.” On its pages, he officially fought for the public status of 
the organization. In 1932–1933 he was the mayor of Kaunas. In his autobio-
graphy, A. Gravgrokas wrote that E. Galvanauskas was well known from 
the activities of the Great Seimas of Vilnius, and feeling antipathy towards 
him, decided to take part in the assassination (Anton von Gravrock asmeni-
nis archyvas, A. Gravrogkas, Autobiografija 1941).

Another person involved in the attempt on the life of E. Galvanauskas 
was the Lithuanian soldier Antanas Petruškevičius. He joined the Lithu-
anian armed forces on January 28, 1919 and took part in the battles against 
the Bolsheviks and Poles. His father Laurynas Petruškevičius was arrested 
by Polish soldiers, and then imprisoned in Sejny. Interrogated and tortu-
red, he died in 1924 (Dainos Kemeraitienės asmeninis archyvas, Antanas 
Petruškevičius, Stasys Petruškevičius, Vincas Petruškevičius, Andrius Pe-
truškevičius, Juozas Petruškevičius, I ir II pasaulinio karo metų pergyventi pri-
siminimai 2005: 6). The death of his father and the personal experience of the 
atrocities inflicted on him by Polish soldiers imposed on the anti-Polish atti-
tude of the activist, as a result of which, as he admits, he became involved in 
organizing the assassination of E. Galvanauskas – the most active supporter 
of the Hymans plan. After a deeper analysis of the facts, it can be concluded 
that there is no unambiguous evidence for this story. Until November 21, 
1942 (he was shot in the prison in Sverdlovsk), Antanas Petruškevičius was 
obliged to keep the course of those events secret.

In 1935, editor Viktoras Biržiška wrote in the “Trimitas” newspaper that 
during one of the underground meetings in August 1921, The Polish Mi-
litary Organization, in cooperation with Kaunas Poles, was to assassinate 
Minister E. Galvanauskas and Józef Purickis, who they were the only and 
most influential supporters of the Hymans plan. However, the assassina-
tion was organized by the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Union and the anti-Hy-
mans movement led by A. Smetona and A. Voldemaras (Biržiška 2013: 187). 
However, the analyses show that while A. Smeton was in power in the state 
(1926–1939), the editor V. Biržiška was instructed to publicly compromise 
the Polish environment in the press. 



174	 Martinas Malužinas

After a quick recovery on December 3, 1921, E. Galvanauskas organised 
a meeting of the Council of Ministers, at which he urged Ministers not to take 
into account the assassination and pressure from the Lithuanian Riflemen’s 
Union and activists of the anti-Hymans movement when making decisions 
on the Hymans plan. He argued that Hymans plan should be accepted “to-
day” (“Karys” 1921: 2). However, on the same day, the Council of Ministers 
did not dare to adopt the League of Nations plan and officially rejected it. On 
December 22, 1921, the Legislative Seimas of Lithuania unanimously appro-
ved the decision of the Council of Ministers not to accept the Hymans plan, 
which was to resolve the dispute between Lithuania and Poland (I  sesijos 
156 posėdis 22.12.1922). People’s Party MP Jan Staugaitis said that Poland is 
politically and economically stronger, which is why the League of Nations 
plan was used by Poland as a tool to bring Lithuania into a federal union. 
The leader of the Christian Democrats, Mykolas Krupavičius, stressed that 
the Hymans plan is unacceptable because it carries slavery and destroys the 
sovereignty of the Lithuanian state. On the other hand, Steponas Kairys, 
a Social Democratic politician, criticized the government for allowing E. Ga-
lvanauskas and the delegation under his leadership to succumb to pressure 
from the Entente without paying attention to the opinion of the Lithuanian 
people. He argued that the proposal of president P. Hymans was only the 
first stage for Lithuania and that there is still a high risk of losing its indepen-
dence. In conclusion, he appealed to the Seimas about the need to consolida-
te all the forces of Lithuanian society in order to maintain a strong political 
line towards Poland and the League of Nations. 

On behalf of the Lithuanian government, E. Galvanauskas on Decem-
ber 24, 1921 in a memo to the League of Nations notified: “Having consi-
dered the proposal of the Council of the League of Nations from all sides, 
the Lithuanian Council of Ministers is obliged with the deepest regret not 
to accept its recommended reconciliation with Poland” (“Lietuva” 1921: 1). 
Ernestas Galvanauskas pointed out the following arguments against the 
Hymans Plan: 1) after the adoption of the plan, agricultural reform in Lithu-
ania would be suspended; 2) Lithuania would be included in the Polish im-
perialist wars; 3) Lithuania, being a small state, would become a province of 
Poland. Analyses show that the implemented agrarian reform at the begin-
ning of 1921 affected the Lithuanian rural population most with fear when 
they were threatened, in case of reconciliation with Poland, with the taking 
of Lithuanian lands by the Polish establishment (Laurinavičius 2004: 257). 
In order to consolidate the Lithuanian peasant nation against the league of 
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Nations and Poland’s plan, the largest faction of the Lithuanian legislative 
Seimas – the Christian Democratic bloc, the People’s and Social Democra-
tic parties – took advantage of this fear and persuaded E. Galvanauskas to 
enter this argument as the main reason for rejecting the proposal of P. Hy-
mans (Steigiamojo Seimo atsišaukimas “Piliečiai” 1920).

Later, in his memorial, the future president of Lithuania, K.  Grinius, 
wrote that for him, E. Galvanauskas and J. Purickis, the Hymans plan with 
minor amendments seemed acceptable, but for many irresponsible patriots, 
especially the younger generation  – soldiers, students, it was unaccepta-
ble parties. According to K. Grinius, the Hymans plan at that time was the 
only opportunity to regain Vilnius. He was convinced that having its own 
administration, schools and leadership, as well as a local Lithuanian Army 
was a  good option for the possibility of combining Vilnius with Kaunas 
Lithuania (Ilgunas 2000: 259). Augustinas Janulaitis, a lawyer and member 
of the Seimas from the Social Democrats party, wrote in his article that the 
Hymans plan fundamentally changed the state of law and the Constitution 
of the Lithuanian state, the law belonged only to the Legislative Seimas, and 
not to the competence of the Council of Ministers. Further in the article, he 
condemned all party leaders who, fearing that the League of Nations plan 
would become the subject of debate in the Seimas, decided to hold E. Galva-
nauskas and the Council of Ministers fully responsible (Janulaitis 1921: 2).

The Voldemaras–Smeton duo closely and suspiciously followed the 
activities and attitude of E. Galvanauskas in relations with Poland. In the 
pages of the press organ of the Party of National Progress, A. Voldemaras 
claimed that E.  Galvanauskas was a  supporter of the Hymans plan and 
wanted to pass it as soon as possible. However, at the last moment, un-
der pressure from the Party of National Progress and the socialists, he was 
forced to reject the League of Nations plan. Then he preached the thesis 
that the political thought of the Lithuanian Socialists was aimed at turning 
Lithuania away from the political influence of the West and turning it to-
wards Soviet Russia. On the other hand, the political goal of the Party of Na-
tional Progress was to implement more radical anti-Polish rhetoric. When 
the Party of National Progress lost the legislative elections in 1922, it did not 
win a single seat. Unable to accept the defeat, it launched an anti-Hymans 
campaign to oppose E. Galvanauskas, the government and the Lithuanian 
Seimas (Voldemaras 1922: 1–2). It is also worth noting that the top secret di-
rect contacts with the Russian Embassy maintained by the Party of National 
Progress, and not the party of Social Democrats, confirm the cooperation 
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of this party with Soviet Russia. The Russian archives were examined by 
Professor Zenonas Butkus of Vilnius University. This analysis shows that 
E. Galvanauskas was not a supporter of either the authoritarian regime or 
the leaders of the Party of National Progress A. Smetona and A. Voldema-
ras – his vision of the Hymans plan stood out. 

Already in exile, the diplomat Vaclovas Sidzikauskas, a  colleague of 
E. Galvanauskas, admitted in his memoirs that although E. Galvanauskas 
failed to solve the problem of borders with Poland, his position on this issue 
was correct, since he was a supporter of improving relations with Poland. 
According to V. Sidzikauskas, the lack of efforts to change relations with Po-
land under the pressure of the opposition and paramilitary organizations, 
such as the Lithuanian Riflemen’s Union, facilitated the process of national 
consolidation, accelerated the development of national consciousness, and 
strengthened the determination to fight for patriotic values. According to 
the political forecast of V. Sidzikauskas, if E. Galvanauskas had persuaded 
the Council of Ministers to accept the proposal of P. Hymans in 1921, Vil-
nius would probably have found itself in the zones of Soviet Belarus, and 
after World War II in communist Poland (Sidzikauskas 1970: 65).

Conclusions

In this article, an attempt is made to show that the diplomatic activity of 
E. Galvanauskas against the Hymans plan was characterized by pragma-
tism.3 As the analysis showed, in many cases, E. Galvanauskas was guided 
by a more intuitive than strategic choice of foreign policy instruments. The 
desire to be different from his predecessor is also an attempt to show that 
E. Galvanauskas was not only a continuator of the foreign policy that the 
extreme Lithuanian opposition expected. He wanted to create his foreign 
policy in such a way that it would be distinguished not only by the pragma-
tism of the solutions used but also by a style that could be less confrontatio-
nal towards Poland. The political crisis in Lithuania, which intensified from 
1921, and regular pressure from the opposition led to a definitive break in 

3	  The pragmatic policy of E. Galvanauskas should be understood as the use of all op-
portunities to pursue the interests of Lithuania, including those related to federation solutions 
while maintaining proper relations with Warsaw. 
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diplomatic relations with Poland, which also resulted in the fact that talks 
on the adoption of the Hymans project ultimately failed. In this way, the 
chance to rebuild at least a  substitute for the Grand Duchy of Lithuania, 
associated with Poland, was wasted.
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Streszczenie:� Ernestas Galvanauskas – polityk, naukowiec i osoba publiczna – jest postacią 
mało znaną opinii społecznej nie tylko na Litwie, ale i w Polsce. Litewscy historycy i politolo-
gowie postrzegają go jednak jako jednego z bardziej wpływowych polityków, który przyczy-
nił się do budowania państwowego bytu litewskiego, bardziej niż premier Augustinas Vol-
demaras czy prezydent Antanas Smetona. Odrodzenie państwa litewskiego nierozerwalnie 
wiąże się z osobą E. Galvanauskasa. Był on zaangażowany w proces modernizacji Kłajpedy, 
doprowadził do rozwoju ekonomii litewskiej, którą zastosował w praktyce do zarządzania 
gospodarką kraju. Cel badawczy niniejszego artykułu stanowi pogłębiona analiza działalno-
ści dyplomatycznej E. Galvanauskasa wobec planu Hymansa, w czasie gdy pełnił on funk-
cje premiera rządu oraz ministra sprawa zagranicznych. W polskiej literaturze przedmiotu 
brakuje źródeł dotyczących problematyki dziejów Litwy i relacji litewsko-polskich w okresie 
międzywojennym, zwłaszcza w kontekście aktywności politycznej E. Galvanauskasa. 
Słowa kluczowe: � Ernestas Galvanauskas, stosunki polsko-litewskie, Liga Narodów, plan 
Hymansa
Abstract: � Ernestas Galvanauskas – politician, scientist and public figure – is a person little 
known to public opinion not only in Lithuania but also in Poland. However, Lithuanian 
historians and political scientists see him as one of the more influential politicians who 
contributed to the construction of the Lithuanian state, more than Prime Minister Augusti-
nas Voldemaras or President Antanas Smetona. The revival of the Lithuanian state is in-
extricably linked with the person of E. Galvanauskas. He was involved in the process of 
modernization of Klaipeda, led to the development of Lithuanian economics, which he 
applied in practice to manage the country’s economy. The research objective of this article 
is an in-depth analysis of the diplomatic activities of E. Galvanauskas in relation to the Hy-
mans plan while he was Prime Minister of the government and Minister of Foreign Affairs. 
The Polish literature on the subject lacks sources concerning the history of Lithuania and 
Lithuanian-Polish relations in the interwar period, especially in the context of E. Galva-
nauskas’ political activity.
Keywords�: Ernestas Galvanauskas, Polish-Lithuanian relations, League of Nations, Hy-
mans plan
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W  1918  r. Polska i  Litwa odzyskały niepodległość. Rząd polski wysunął 
propozycję utworzenia wspólnego państwa, którą rząd litewski odrzucił. 
Pomiędzy dwoma odrodzonymi państwami doszło do konfliktu zbrojne-
go, a przedmiotem sporu była przynależność państwowa terenów granicz-
nych. Po zakończeniu konfliktu polsko-litewskiego ziemie południowo- 
-wschodniej Litwy wraz z  Wilnem na mocy umowy suwalskiej zostały 
uznane za część Litwy, jednak Polska nie zastosowała się do postanowień 
i w październiku 1920 r. doszło do tzw. buntu Żeligowskiego, w wyniku 
którego zajęta została Wileńszczyzna. Po niepowodzeniu międzypań-
stwowych negocjacji pokojowych Liga Narodów podjęła się normaliza-
cji sytuacji. Paul Hymans, prezydent Ligi Narodów, przedstawił 20 maja 
1921 r. własną propozycję pokojową. Obejmowała ona utworzenie z Litwy 
dwóch kantonów narodowościowych ze stolicą w Wilnie i powiązanie tak 
powstałego państwa z Polską, co było w większości powieleniem polskiej 
idei federacyjnej głoszonej przez Marszałka Polski Józefa Piłsudskiego. 
Wobec dalszego braku porozumienia 3 września P. Hymans zaproponował 
autonomię Wileńszczyzny w ramach Litwy, co spotkało się z odmową ze 
strony polskiej. Ostatecznie 21 września 1921 r. Liga Narodów zakończyła 
wszelkie próby zażegnania sporu, 3 lutego 1923 r. zdecydowała o podziale 
pomiędzy obie strony tzw. strefy pasa neutralnego, a 15 marca 1923 r. Kon-
ferencja Ambasadorów, wykonując postanowienia art. 87 traktatu wersal-
skiego, podjęła decyzję o uznaniu polskich granic. 

Celem badawczym niniejszego artykułu jest analiza działalności dyploma-
tycznej polityka Ernestasa Galvanauskasa wobec planu Hymansa. W artykule 
omówiono także politykę zagraniczną prowadzoną przez E. Galvanauskasa 
w kluczowych dla Litwy latach 1920–1921. Był to okres próby przebudowy 
stosunków polsko-litewskich, głównie w kontekście Wileńszczyzny. Badając 
wybrane przypadki z perspektywy aktorów politycznych, niniejszy artykuł 
może pomóc wyjaśnić, dlaczego niektóre z  ich decyzji odbiegały od trady-
cyjnej międzynarodowej polityki zagranicznej bazującej na konsensusie. Za-
kres  przedmiotowy artykułu wytycza konflikt na linii Kowno–Warszawa. 
Zakres podmiotowy odnosi się natomiast do sylwetki polityka E. Galvanau-
skasa. Zakres terytorialny zaś obejmuje ziemie litewskie i obszary będące pod 
administracją litewską (m.in. obszar Kłajpedy) oraz ziemie II Rzeczypospolitej 
i obszar będący pod administracją polską (m.in. obszar wileński). Ramy chro-
nologiczne pola badawczego wyznaczają lata 1920–1921.

Realizację celów badawczych umożliwiło zaimplementowanie metody 
historycznej, która służy do ustalenia faktu historycznego. Niniejsza analiza 
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stanowi punkt wyjścia do dalszych badań naukowych. Hipoteza badawcza 
sformułowana w  artykule bazuje na założeniu, że działalność dyploma-
tyczna E. Galvanauskasa oparta była na interesach sprzecznych ze skrajnie 
prawicowo-nacjonalistyczną opozycją, na czele której stał Antanas Smetona.

1. Biografia polityczna Ernestasa Galvanauskasa (1882–1967)

Po uzyskaniu matury w  Mintawie w  1902  r. E.  Galvanauskas rozpoczął 
naukę w Instytucie Leśnictwa w Sankt Petersburgu. W tym samym roku 
został członkiem Litewskiej Partii Demokratycznej. W  1905  r. był przed-
stawicielem Związku Rolników, a dzięki aktywnej pracy i zaangażowaniu 
został reprezentantem Wielkiego Sejmu Wilna („Lietuvos ukininkas” 1906: 
528). W swoich memoriałach o wileńskim sejmie pisał: 

Podczas wystąpienia każda partia próbowała przyciągać sobie jak najwięcej 
zwolenników, każda zmagała się z innymi ugrupowaniami, każda coś ofero-
wała, ale żadna niewiele uwagi poświęciła temu, czego powinno się wymagać 
i co będzie służyło narodowi litewskiemu. Sejm wileński to było miejsce, gdzie 
odbyły się pierwsze wzmianki pomiędzy wszystkimi partiami litewskimi, nie 
były one [partie polityczne – M.M.] przygotowane i nie były chętne do współ-
pracy, każda posiadała swoje ambicje. W takich warunkach nawet długopla-
nowe kwestie były nie do rozwiązania, stawały się obiektem nieuniknionych 
ostrych starć (Audėnas 1990: 7)1. 

Na podstawie powyższej wypowiedzi można sformułować kilka uwag. 
Przede wszystkim widać pierwszą ważną cechę osobowości E. Galvanau-
skasa: przez całą swoją karierę na litewskiej scenie politycznej unikał intryg 
oraz gier politycznych. Z tego powodu jest stosunkowo mało rozpoznawa-
ny w historii i myśli politycznej Litwy. Po drugie, nie pisał politycznych ma-
nifestów ani nie tworzył programów politycznych. Właściwie był bardziej 
politycznym wykonawcą niż ideologiem. Stąd w litewskiej literaturze nie 
ma żadnych jego zbiorów cytatów lub pamiętników, w przeciwieństwie do 
A. Smetony czy Augustinasa Voldemarasa. Jednakże jego wpływ na rządy 
jest odczuwalny we wszystkich najważniejszych wydarzeniach litewskiej 
historii, począwszy od 1919 r. do co najmniej 1926 r. (Varnas 2018). 

1	  Wszystkie tłumaczenia z języka litewskiego pochodzą od autora artykułu. 
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Za swoją aktywną działalność polityczną, w  tym za udział w  sejmie 
wileńskim, był represjonowany przez administrację carską. W  1906  r. zo-
stał aresztowany i przez kilka miesięcy więziony w Poniewieżu. W 1908 r., 
uświadomiwszy sobie, iż dłużej nie może przybywać na Litwie i w Imperium 
Rosyjskim, wyemigrował do Belgii, gdzie na uniwersytecie technicznym 
w Liège kontynuował studia inżynierskie. W 1912 r. uzyskał dyplom inżynie-
ra górniczego, a w 1913 r. dyplom inżyniera elektryka (Banevičius 1991: 58). 
Nie mogąc znaleźć zatrudnienia, zafascynowany górami i klimatem bałkań-
skim, wyjechał do Serbii, gdzie w 1914 r. został zatrudniony we francusko-
-serbskim przedsiębiorstwie kolejowym. W okresie nadchodzącej Wielkiej 
Wojny, podobnie jak większość działaczy politycznych, wyemigrował do 
Europy Zachodniej. W 1916 r. przybył do Paryża, gdzie podjął pracę jako 
inżynier elektrotechnik. W stolicy Francji rozpoczęła się jego druga odsło-
na drogi politycznej. Poznał tam litewskiego dyplomatę i delegata na Paryż 
Osakarasa Milašiusa, który zaproponował mu pracę sekretarza w delega-
cji litewskiej na trwającej konferencji pokojowej w Paryżu (E. Galvanauskas 
bardzo dobrze władał językiem francuskim). Ernestas Galvanauskas był od-
powiedzialny nie tylko za przygotowanie tekstów państwowych na konfe-
rencję paryską, ale także za ubiór i wygląd reprezentacyjny A. Voldemara-
sa, przez co miał także wpływ na kreowanie jego zewnętrznego wizerunku 
w Paryżu (Klimas 1990: 159). 

Z politycznego punktu widzenia E. Galvanauskas służył pomocą dele-
gacji litewskiej. Pozyskana przez niego sympatia litewskich delegatów nie 
tylko wynikała z jego oddania i pracowitości na rzecz delegacji z A. Volde-
marasem na czele, lecz przede wszystkim z tego, iż przez dłuższy czas był 
osobą bezpartyjną, przez co bezstronną politycznie – to wzbudzało większe 
zaufanie. W sierpniu 1919 r. E. Galvanauskas udał się na Europejski Kon-
gres Socjalistów w Lucernie. Po konferencji został zaproszony przez Jona-
sa Vileišisa, szefa delegacji litewskiej, na negocjacje do Berlina w sprawie 
udzielenia pożyczki rządowi litewskiemu na jego działalność. W czerwcu 
1919 r. E. Galvanauskas pod namową J. Vileišisa wrócił na Litwę, by wkrót-
ce objąć stanowisko premiera. W  tym punkcie warto zwrócić uwagę, że 
E. Galvanauskas zyskał dużą sympatię i uznanie szefa delegacji J. Vileišisa, 
który rekomendował go do sprawowania najwyższych funkcji w państwie, 
przedstawił go jako osobę lojalną, pracowitą, a co najważniejsze – nienale-
żącą do żadnego stronnictwa politycznego (Martišius 2003: 118).
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2. Konsekwencje kryzysu w gabinecie ministra Mykolasa Sleževičiusa

Początkowy etap kariery politycznej profesjonalnie przygotował E. Galva-
nauskasa do pracy w sferze administracyjnej, dyplomatycznej oraz gospo-
darczej. Na początku września 1919  r. wybuchł kryzys w  gabinecie My-
kolasa Sleževičiusa, gdyż rząd nie radził sobie z nowymi wyzwaniami na 
arenie międzynarodowej. Z tego powodu opozycja zażądała zmian. Prezy-
dent A. Smetona 30 września 1919 r. zarządził nadzwyczajną naradę w sej-
mie, gdzie zebrali się wszyscy przedstawiciele litewskich partii. Podczas 
narady A. Smetona zaproponował utworzenie rządu dla E. Galvanauskasa, 
ponieważ – według taktyki politycznej prezydenta – niepartyjny kandydat 
mógłby zjednoczyć spolaryzowaną litewską elitę polityczną. Dnia 7 paź-
dziernika 1919 r. E. Galvanauskas utworzył piąty litewski rząd, a 19 kwiet-
nia 1920 r. A. Smetona przekazał funkcję głowy państwa Aleksandrowi Stul-
ginskovi (Grinius 1954: 211). Ze względu na kryzys ekonomiczny w kraju 
na początku 1921 r. E. Galvanauskas z aprobatą nowego prezydenta objął 
stanowisko ministra finansów. Na Litwie brakowało profesjonalnych dy-
plomatów, z tego też powodu E. Galvanauskas zdecydował się być szefem 
delegacji litewskiej w Brukseli oraz w Genewie w trakcie negocjacji z dele-
gacją polską („Akiraščiai” 1973: 53).

W tym miejscu warto zadać pytanie, dlaczego w styczniu 1921 r. E. Ga-
lvanauskas zdecydował się wziąć na siebie odpowiedzialność w rokowa-
niach dyplomatycznych z Polską na rzecz planu Hymansa. Zarówno par-
tia rządząca, jak i opozycja 21 stycznia 1921 r. wspólnie wyraziły pretensje 
A. Smetonie, iż jego przyjaciel i najbliższy współpracownik minister A. Vol-
demaras jest pasywny w Lidze Narodów. Dowiedziawszy się o tym, mini-
ster jeszcze tego samego dnia zrezygnował z mandatu szefa litewskiej dele-
gacji w Lidze Narodów. Prezydent A. Smetona zaproponował stanowisko 
E. Galvanauskasowi, który oficjalnie 1 lutego 1921 r. stanął na czele delega-
cji litewskiej w Lidze Narodów (Bukaitė 2016: 178). Dyplomata w Paryżu, 
Petras Klimas, o tym wydarzeniu w swoim memoriale napisał:

Powstały wątpliwości co do nowego sternika dyplomacji litewskiej, ponieważ 
Voldemaras był największą naszą siłą intelektualną w Lidze Narodów. Wciąż 
dla nas był homo novus jako nadmiernie abstrakcyjny myśliciel, dialektyk. Poza 
tym odszedł od publicznej działalności, przeczuwając, iż on i jego ugrupowa-
nie polityczne tracą na popularności w sejmie. Z tego powodu trzeba było szu-
kać bardziej odpowiedzialnego przedstawiciela w gronie rządu (1990: 293). 
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Można wnioskować, iż głównym powodem odejścia A. Voldemarasa był 
spadek jego popularności i autorytetu wśród najbliższych jego współpra-
cowników, dlatego stał się on pasywny zarówno w sejmie, jak i w rządzie, 
co ostatecznie doprowadziło w 1920 r. do utraty stanowiska.

3. Sprawa Wilna na forum Ligi Narodów

Już na początku negocjacji, gdy zapadały w  Radzie Ligi Narodów plany 
plebiscytu na terytorium wileńskim, E.  Galvanauskas zażądał od człon-
ków Rady, by konsekwencje plebiscytu zostały uznane przez stronę polską. 
Zdaniem litewskiego premiera Polska wielokrotnie łamała zasady związa-
ne z linią demarkacyjną. Także z inicjatywy E. Galvanauskasa zrodził się ar-
gument w Lidze Narodów, by plebiscyt odłożyć. Ponieważ w tym czasie na 
arenie międzynarodowej Litwa nadal nie posiadała statusu de jure, dlatego 
z politycznego punktu widzenia to właśnie ona, w odróżnieniu do Polski, 
zajmowała nierówną pozycję w Lidze Narodów. 

Ernestasowi Galvanauskasowi udało się przekonać wszystkich członków 
Rady Ligi Narodów w kwestii Wilna, że potrzebna jest inna opcja rozwią-
zania tego konfliktu niż organizowanie plebiscytu. W jego opinii miała być 
to opcja, która byłaby zgodna ze wszystkimi przyjętymi rezolucjami Rady 
w kwestii sporu między stronami na linii Polska–Litwa (Klimas 1990: 296). 
W  tym celu oba państwa powinny wysłać swoich przedstawicieli rządo-
wych do Brukseli, gdzie P. Hymans, minister spraw zagranicznych Belgii, 
stał na czele mediacji pomiędzy stronami konfliktu.

Dnia 11 maja 1921  r. odbyły się pierwsze negocjacje polsko-litewskie 
dotyczące sporu Wilna, gdzie P. Hymans obu stronom zaproponował swój 
plan (plan Hymansa). Treść tego planu zawierała zasadniczą myśl modelu 
szwajcarskiego: Litwa musiałaby stać się krajem związkowym, utworzonym 
z dwóch kantonów: Wilna i Kowna. Polityka zagraniczna, wojskowa i spra-
wy gospodarcze w przyszłości powinny być regulowane przez wspólne ciało 
polityczne wybierane przez litewskie i polskie parlamenty (Hymanso projek-
tas vyriausiuose kr. d. p. organuose 1928: 6–8). Druga teza planu wskazywała, iż 
z Kłajpedy i jej portu korzystać będzie bez żadnych ograniczeń celnych strona 
Polska. W odpowiedzi E. Galvanauskas oświadczył, iż jest to dobra podstawa 
do dalszych dyskusji na forum Ligi Narodów, lecz obawiał się, że z punk-
tu widzenia ekonomicznego silniejsza gospodarczo Polska pochłonie Litwę 
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swoją potęgą oraz nie będzie wpłacała do skarbu litewskiego cła, co w efekcie 
osłabi litewską ekonomię (Galva 1982: 17). Obie strony odrzuciły projekt, jed-
nakże warto pogłębić analizę histograficzną, z której wynika, iż E. Galvanau-
skas nie odrzucał projektu Hymansa w całości (Valsonokas 1989: 8). 

Ernestas Galvanauskas dobrze rozumiał wizję, jaką zaoferował media-
tor P. Hymans, który widział Litwę jako państewko-prowincję pod opie-
ką prozachodniej orientacji Polski. Z  tego powodu E. Galvanauskas dalej 
mówił, iż negocjacje mogą iść według tego projektu, lecz bez elementów 
federacyjnych. Równocześnie referował, że negocjacje z Polską można pro-
wadzić w następujący sposób: po pierwsze, podpisać umowę o ochronie 
mniejszości na Litwie i w Polsce na podstawie zasadniczej, odpowiedniej 
umowy zawartej w Wersalu, po drugie, zawrzeć między stronami konwen-
cję obrony wojskowej (Jegelavičius 1997: 315).

W czasie sesji Ligi Narodów 21 czerwca 1921 r. bezpośrednio zapytany 
przez P. Hymansa, co sądzi o pozostaniu pod polskimi auspicjami, E. Ga-
lvanauskas odpowiedział,

iż jego zdaniem priorytetową sprawą jest zażegnanie napięć przez zagwaran-
towanie praw mniejszości w  Kownie i  na Litwie, ponieważ te miejsca stają 
się ogniwem konfliktów. Po drugie, zawarcie konwencji wojennej ma służyć 
ograniczeniu spraw obronnych Polski w  potencjalnym konflikcie z  Litwą,  
tj. zawarcia umowy o tak zwanej nieagresji przeciwko Litwie. W kwestii Kłaj-
pedy, kompletnie odmówił prowadzenia jakikolwiek negocjacji w tym temacie 
(Jegelavičius 1997: 316).

Inne elementy projektu, zdaniem E. Galvanauskasa, były warte omówienia, 
co w efekcie stanowiło modus vivendi. Dlatego w ówczesnej sytuacji usatys-
fakcjonowana Rada Ligi Narodów 28 czerwca 1921 r. uchwaliła rezolucję, 
w myśl której rozmowy dotyczące planu Hymansa miały być kontynuowa-
ne na najbliższej sesji Rady w Brukseli.

4. Efekty działalności dyplomatycznej Ernestasa Galvanauskasa

Plan Hymansa spowodował głośny oddźwięk na Litwie. Na początku lip-
ca 1921 r. w stolicy zapanował niepokój, wywierana presja opozycyjna na 
E.  Galvanauskasa nakazywała jego niedopuszczenie lub kontynowanie 
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dyskusji, jak i wchodzenie w dalsze rokowania w sprawie możliwości za-
warcia federacyjnych lub unijnych związków z Polską. Litewski ruch anty- 
hymansowski, organizowany przez radyklane skrzydło, czyli Litewską 
Partię Socjaldemokratyczną i Partię Postępu Narodowego, skłonił E. Galva-
nauskasa do wystosowania 22 lipca 1921 r. swojej noty, w której przedsta-
wił stanowisko wobec planu Hymansa. Wskazał w niej na faktyczne powo-
dy (wywołane na Litwie) niepozwalające wykonać rezolucji z 28 czerwca 
(Abromaitis 2004: 219). Inicjatywą E. Galvanauskasa było także przedsta-
wienie kolejnego pisma Radzie Ligi Narodów. Nota zyskała aprobatę sej-
mu litewskiego, a jej główna teza brzmiała, iż aby kontynuować negocjacje 
z Polską na forum Ligi, potrzebna jest realizacja umowy suwalskiej2, ponie-
waż umowa ta gwarantowała zaufanie dla rządu litewskiego wobec Polski 
oraz zabezpieczała podstawy do kontynuowania rokowań bez napięć („Vo-
ruta” 2012: 13). Delegacja polska, na czele z ministrem przy Lidze Narodów 
Szymonem Askenazym, zapoznawszy się z dokumentem E. Galvanauska-
sa, odrzuciła żądania litewskiego premiera, co skutkowało kolejnymi bez-
owocnymi rokowaniami między stronami. 

Na początku września 1921  r. na jesiennej sesji Ligi Narodów P.  Hy-
mans przedstawił drugą wersję planu, którego tezy były korzystniejsze dla 
strony litewskiej. Założenia planu zostały skonsultowane z przedstawicie-
lem Litwy w Anglii Tomasem Naruszewicziusem. Jednak istota planu nie 
stanowiła podstawy do dyskusji, było to porozumienie, które musiało być 
zaakceptowane przez obie strony konfliktu. W drugiej wersji planu porzu-
cono ideę kantonu, autonomia została zaoferowana regionowi wileńskie-
mu, sugerowano zakładanie oddzielnych sztabów generalnych na teryto-
rium Wilna, ich działalność miałaby być koordynowana przez obie strony, 
a w czasie potencjalnej wojny Polska miałaby prawo korzystać z terytorium 
wileńskiego. W wyniku nacisków ze strony Rady Ligi Narodów E. Galva-
nauskas zgodził się kontynuować negocjacje w kierunku drugiego planu 
Hymansa (Žepkaitė 1980: 148).

W związku z tym na Litwie powstała nowa fala protestów przeciwko 
drugiemu planowi Hymanasa (Dar dėl Ženevos rezoliucijos. Didelis mitin-
gas  – demonstracija Kaune 12.07.1921: 1–3). W  politycznych oraz społecz-
nych spotkaniach bezwzględnie apelowano do E. Galvanauskasa, aby nie 

2	  Umowa suwalska ustanawiała linię demarkacyjną, która przyznawała znaczną część 
obwodu wileńskiego Litwie, lecz nie Wilno, a także porozumienie o zakończeniu wojny, prze-
widując tym samym procedurę wymiany jeńców wojennych między stronami.
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zawierał żadnych związków konfederacyjnych z Polską, z powodu których 
ucierpiałaby niepodległość Litwy, i aby starał się utrzymać na forum Ligi 
Narodów kwestię niezależności Litwy z  jej stolicą Wilnem (Piliečių balsai. 
Vilkaviškio gyventojų rezoliucija 1921: 3). Z tej przyczyny 1 listopada 1921 r. 
E. Galvanauskas zorganizował konferencję dla delegatów przy Lidze Naro-
dów w Kownie, a w przededniu miał spotkanie w sejmie z działaczami pu-
blicznymi, liderami partii i frakcji. Na konferencji oświadczył, iż wszyscy są 
nastawieni na odrzucenie planu Hymansa, zarówno jego wersji pierwszej, 
jak i drugiej. Ich argumenty zostały oparte na polityce wewnętrznej oraz 
na zdecydowanych reakcjach społecznych przeciwko jakiemukolwiek bliż-
szemu związkowi z Polską. Przyjęcie propozycji P. Hymansa wywołałoby 
poważne zamieszania, które mogłoby doprowadzić do katastrofy w skali 
całego kraju (Lietuvos Centrinis Valstybes Archyvas, Lietuvos pasiuntinių 
konferencijos posėdžio protokolas 31.10.1921, f. 383, b. 118). Podczas konferen-
cji delegatów E. Galvanauskas wspomniał również, że w razie zamieszek 
prawdopodobnie aktywnie w te sprawy zaangażuje się armia litewska. Jed-
nocześnie podkreślał konieczność prowadzenia dalszych negocjacji w spra-
wie drugiego planu Hymansa, ponieważ odrzucenie go oznaczałoby koniec 
mediacji, a w konsekwencji zrzeczenie się Wilna i całego kraju. Dalej, jak 
oświadczył szef delegacji, może to doprowadzić do wojny z Polską i oku-
pacji Litwy jako całości, a następnie, w jego opinii, nie wolno zapomnieć, że 
jeżeli Polska utraci niepodległość, Litwa też nie przetrwa jako byt państwo-
wy (I sesijos 124 posėdis 20.09.1921). Pod koniec listopada 1921 r. do człon-
ków litewskiego sejmu została wystosowana odezwa autorstwa Litewskie-
go Komitetu Ratowania Narodu. W treści apelu zawarte zostało żądanie, 
by członkowie sejmu kategorycznie odrzucili przyjęcie przez rząd litewski 
drugiej wersji planu Hymansa (Kauno mitingo nutarimas dėl Hymanso projekto 
1921: 6). Kilka dni później członkowie rządu litewskiego, w tym E. Galva-
nauskas, otrzymywali anonimowe groźby dotyczące tego, co się stanie, jeśli 
zaakceptują propozycje Ligi Narodów (Žepkaitė 1978: 206).

Dnia 24 listopada 1921 r. litewski działacz społeczny Zigmundas Žema-
itis przybył na konferencję frakcji Litewskiej Partii Socjaldemokratów oraz 
Partii Związku Chłopów, oświadczając, że nowy premier rządu Kazys Gri-
nius poinformował go, iż jego gabinet ministrów sprawę planu Hymansa 
będzie rozważać 25 listopada, a  jego rezolucja nie będzie wymagała raty-
fikacji sejmu. Jednocześnie Z. Žemaitis obawiał się, że sejm będzie upraw-
niony jedynie do ratyfikowania traktatów przygotowanych po akceptacji 
projektu. Członkowie frakcji nie byli pewni, czy gabinet ministrów nie 
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przyjmie projektu bez wiedzy sejmu, dlatego niektórzy członkowie frakcji 
nalegali na gwarancje, że tak się nie stanie, podczas gdy pozostali wyrażali 
brak zaufania do gabinetu ministrów K. Griniusa (Steigiamojo Seimo LSLDP 
ir LVS frakcijų bloko protokolas 24.11.1921: 343). Gabinet ministrów miał za 
zadanie w dniu 25 listopada rozważyć plan Hymansa bez wiedzy sejmu 
i niezależnie od tego ciała zaakceptować go lub odrzucić podczas spotkania 
lobby masońskiego. Zigmundas Žemaitis 22 listopada został mianowany 
na ministra bez teki do spraw Białorusinów w rządzie Dominika Semaški. 
Sensu largo minister D. Semaška chciał skonsultować się nie tylko z Z. Že-
maitisem, ale i z pozostałymi członkami masonerii w kwestii planu Hyman-
sa. Warto zwrócić uwagę, iż Z. Žemaitis oraz Kowieńska Loża, założona 
1 lutego 1920 r. przez wolnomularzy i byłego premiera Mikołaja Šležvičiu-
sa, opowiedzieli się za przejęciem planu Hymansa. Większość członków 
kowieńskiej loży masońskiej była zwolennikami planu. Natomiast minister 
D.  Semaška, będąc jednocześnie członkiem kowieńskiej loży masońskiej 
i przeciwnikiem planu Hymansa, wraz z ministrem spraw wewnętrznych 
Rapolasem Skipitisem poddał się do dymisji. 

Na uwagę zasługuje fakt, iż w  gabinecie ministrów była zdecydowa-
na większość zwolenników planu Hymansa i planowali go zaakceptować 
z niewielkimi zastrzeżeniami. Michał Römer, gorliwy zwolennik porozu-
mienia z Polską, w swoim memoriale wyraził to następująco: 

Jestem świadom, że jest potrzeba przyjąć plan Hymansa, lecz nie w taki sposób, 
w  jaki sobie propagują zwolennicy tej sprawy w gabinecie ministrów, jest to 
nie do przyjęcia. Ta pogarda dla litewskiej demokracji, Sejmu, Konstytucji oraz 
establishmentu na litewskiej scenie politycznej nie powinna być zwana dzia-
łaniami politycznymi wokół planu Ligi. Rozumiem i  uzasadniłbym podjęcie 
decyzji przez gabinet ministrów, która się nie boi brać inicjatywy dyktatorskiej, 
jednakże obecni spekulanci litewskiego establishmentu są tchórzliwi, chcą 
osiągnąć cel poprzez zwodzenie, oszukiwanie i  kłamstwa, traktując zasady 
demokracji litewskiej jak naiwne dziecko. Nie jestem zaskoczony, że Liga Na-
rodów: Anglia i Francja, przekonuje litewski establishment do podejmowania 
takich metod działania, ponieważ są zainteresowani rozstrzygnięciem kwestii 
Wilna w jak najszybszym terminie. Z tego powodu szukają jakiejkolwiek drogi 
do osiągnięcia celu (Römeris, Miknys, Grigaitienė 2013: 30).

Na podstawie krytycznej oceny sytuacji politycznej na Litwie M. Römer ob-
winiał Ligę Narodów, iż traktowała litewskie społeczeństwo jako naród, któ-
ry musi zostać oszukany i którego nie można przekonać do czegokolwiek, 

https://www.worldcat.org/search?q=au=%22Ro%CC%88meris%2C%20Mykolas%22
https://www.worldcat.org/search?q=au=%22Grigaitiene%CC%87%2C%20Vaiva%22
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a mając to na uwadze, rząd litewski postępował w ten sam sposób, nato-
miast Liga Narodów narzucała rządowi litewskiemu swoje propozycje. 

Dnia 25 listopada 1921 r. w celu zapobieżenia przyjęcia planu Hyman-
sa podjęto próbę zamachu na życie szefa delegacji litewskiej E. Galvanau-
skasa. Materiał wybuchowy został podłożony na parapet w jego sypialni. 
Podczas eksplozji E. Galvanauskas został ciężko ranny. Jak podają źródła, 
uratowało go to, że podczas wybuchu nie spał, a odwróciwszy się plecami 
do okna, grał w karty. Nie było wątpliwości, że z powodów politycznych 
E.  Galvanauskas był bardzo niewygodną postacią na arenie politycznej. 
Organ prasowy organizacji paramilitarnej Związku Strzelców Litewskich 
,,Trimitas’’ publicznie potępiał akt terroru, aczkolwiek nazwał to rezulta-
tem napiętej sytuacji politycznej na Litwie oraz konsekwencją interwencjo-
nizmu Ligi Narodów w wewnętrzne sprawy polityczne Litwy (Patamsių 
riteriai 1921: 3). Członek delegacji litewskiej P. Klimas w swoim memoriale 
pisał, że zaledwie po 40 latach dowiedział się, że zamach był zorganizo-
wany przez kilka osób i wskazał ich nazwiska: Balis Sruoga, Jonas Strazda 
oraz Miksa Kalmantavičius-Kalmantas. W czasie zamachu pisarz B. Sru-
oga studiował w Monachium, dlatego wątpliwe jest, by mógł przyczynić 
się do tego aktu. Wspominano też o innej wersji, że inicjatorem zamachu 
był Wincenty Krevė-Mickievčius, a jego wykonawcą oficer Józef Mikuckis 
(Čepėnas 1992: 650). 

W  1923  r. ujawniono, że głównym realizatorem zamachu był Feliksas 
Šemeta, aktywny działacz na rzecz ruchu niepodległościowego. Wraz ze 
swoimi braćmi Aleksandrem i Hipolitasem w walce przeciwko zachodniej 
armii ochotniczej (lit. Bermontininkai) stworzyli słyną grupę ,,Kužiai”, któ-
ra militarnie wspierała komendę Telšiai oraz batalion Janikščiai. Do końca 
października 1923 r. F. Šemeta walczył z Polakami, a następnie został przy-
wódcą oddziału partyzanckiego. Jako członek Związku Strzelców Litew-
skich współpracował z kowieńskim kontrwywiadem wojennym. Jego udział 
w  realizowaniu zamachu na E.  Galvanauskasa został potwierdzony przez 
byłego członka litewskiego sejmu i prawnika Zigmunda Toliušisa. W swo-
im wspomnieniu pisał, że szczególnie wrogą pozycję wobec planu Hymansa 
zajął Vladislavas Putvinskis – dowódca Związku Strzelców Litewskich. Jego 
zdaniem przyjęcie planu Hymansa spowodowałoby wejście Litwy w orbitę 
polskich wpływów politycznych, ekonomicznych i kulturalnych, a w dalszej 
perspektywie Litwa, jako słabszy partner dla Polski, straciłaby swoją nieza-
leżność i została inkorporowana w skład jej terytorium. W opinii Z. Toliušisa, 
aby plan Hymansa nie został przyjęty, postanowiono usunąć najbardziej 
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wpływowego zwolennika rozwiązań Ligi Narodów – E. Galvanauskasa. 
Poza W. Putvinskisem w skład kierownictwa Związku Strzelców Litewskich 
wchodzili tacy przywódcy, jak: Mikas Mikelewičius, Pranas Klimaitis, Alek-
sandras Marcinkevičius, Liudas Vailionis, Antanas Žmuidžinavičius, jednak-
że o planie dokonania zamachu na E. Galvanauskasa było poinformowane 
najbliższe grono przyjaciół V. Putvinskisa. Jak pisał Z. Toliušis, W. Putvinskis 
był powiernikiem F. Šemety, pochodzącego z okręgu Szawle, i to jemu zleco-
no przeprowadzenie zamachu (Toliušis 1968: 178). 

W 1923 r. po zbadaniu i wyjaśnieniu sprawy śledczej oraz ujawnieniu na-
zwisk zamachowców przez kontrwywiad kowieński V. Putvinskis doradził 
F. Šemetowi, by w jak najszybszym czasie opuścił Litwę i wyjechał na Łotwę. 
Następnie podsunął mu myśl, aby z Rygi F. Šemeta dostał się do Moskwy 
w celu zdobycia nowych dokumentów identyfikacyjnych i znalezienia pra-
cy w pobliżu granicy litewskiej. Opuściwszy kraj 12 listopada 1923 r., został 
aresztowany na terytorium Związku Socjalistycznych Republik Radzieckich 
(ZSSR). Do września 1924 r. był więziony na Łubiance w Moskwie. Za niele-
galne przekroczenie granicy radzieckiej został skazany na 3 lata obozu kon-
centracyjnego w Solowkach. Po odbyciu kary drugą decyzją sądu najwyższe-
go ZSSR został deportowany na 10 lat na Syberię do Tulun. W obozie pracy 
przymusowej w Irkucku, gdzie pracował jako stolarz w bibliotece miejskiej, 
został oskarżony w 1938 r. za propagowanie trockizmu i skazany na kolejne 
3 lata pobytu w obozie pracy przymusowej. Wkrótce oskarżono go o szpie-
gostwo na rzecz zwolenników Lwa Trockiego, co posłużyło jako dowód jego 
skazania i rozstrzelania (Žadeikytė 2013).

W zorganizowaniu zamachu na szefa dyplomacji litewskiej brał udział 
członek zarządu centralnego Związku Strzelców Litewskich Antanas 
Gravgrokas. Jego syn Vytautas Gravgrokas wspominał, że ojciec oraz ka-
pitan Antanas Petruškevičius i  inna niezidentyfikowana osoba, członek 
Związku Strzelców Litewskich, zdetonowali materiał wybuchowy (Anton 
von Gravrock asmeninis archyvas, Atsiminimai 2015). W 1905 r. A. Gravgro-
kas był członkiem prezydium Wielkiego Sejmu Wileńskiego, aktywnie an-
gażował się w rewolucyjne wydarzenia. Na początku 1921 r. wstąpił w sze-
regi Związku Strzelców Litewskich, a w czasie organizowania zamachu na 
życie E. Galvanauskasa pełnił funkcję redaktora organu prasowego Związ-
ku Strzelców Litewskich ,,Trimitas”. Na jego łamach oficjalnie walczył 
o status publiczny organizacji. W latach 1932–1933 był burmistrzem miasta 
Kowna. W swojej autobiografii A. Gravgrokas pisał, iż E. Galvanauskasa 
dobrze znał z  działalności Wielkiego Sejmu Wileńskiego, a  odczuwając 
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w stosunku do niego antypatię, postanowił wziąć udział w zamachu (An-
ton von Gravrock asmeninis archyvas, A. Gravrogkas, Autobiografija 1941).

Kolejną osobą zaangażowaną w  przygotowanie zamachu na życie 
E. Galvanauskasa był litewski żołnierz Antanas Petruškevičius. Do litew-
skich sił zbrojnych wstąpił 28 stycznia 1919 r., brał udział w walkach prze-
ciwko bolszewikom i Polakom. Jego ojciec Laurynas Petruškevičius został 
aresztowany przez polskich żołnierzy, następnie więziony w Sejnach. Prze-
słuchiwany i torturowany zmarł w 1924 r. (Dainos Kemeraitienės asmeninis 
archyvas, Antanas Petruškevičius, Stasys Petruškevičius, Vincas Petruške-
vičius, Andrius Petruškevičius, Juozas Petruškevičius, I ir II pasaulinio karo 
metų pergyventi prisiminimai 2005: 6). Śmierć ojca oraz osobiste doświadcze-
nia okrucieństw zadanych mu przez polskich żołnierz nałożyły się na anty-
polską postawę działacza, w wyniku czego, jak przyzna, zaangażował się 
w zorganizowanie zamachu na E. Galvanauskasa – najbardziej aktywnego 
zwolennika planu Hymansa. Po głębszej analizie faktów można wniosko-
wać, że nie ma jednoznacznych dowodów na tę historię. Antanas Petru-
škevičius do 21 listopada 1942 r. (został rozstrzelany w więzieniu w Swier-
dłowsku) był zobowiązany do utrzymania w tajemnicy przebiegu tamtych 
wypadków.

W 1935 r. redaktor Viktoras Biržiška na łamach gazety ,,Trimitas’” pisał, 
że na jednym z posiedzeń konspiracyjnych w sierpniu 1921 r. Polska Orga-
nizacja Wojskowa we współpracy z kowieńskimi Polakami miała dokonać 
zamachu na życie ministra E. Galvanauskasa oraz Józefa Purickisa, którzy 
byli jedynymi i najbardziej wpływowi zwolennikami planu Hymansa. Jed-
nakże zorganizowanie zamachu dokonał Związek Strzelców Litewskich 
oraz ruch antyhymansowski na czele z A. Smetoną oraz A. Voldemarasem 
(Biržiška 2013: 187). Z analiz wynika jednak, że w czasie gdy A. Smetona 
sprawował władzę w państwie (1926–1939), redaktorowi V. Biržišce wyda-
no instrukcję, aby publicznie na łamach prasy kompromitował w tej spra-
wie środowiska polskie. 

Po szybkiej rekonwalescencji 3 grudnia 1921 r. E. Galvanauskas zorga-
nizował spotkanie Rady Ministrów, na którym apelował, aby ministrowie 
przy podejmowaniu decyzji dotyczących planu Hymansa nie brali pod 
uwagę zamachu i nacisków ze stronu Związku Strzelców Litewskich i dzia-
łaczy ruchu antyhymansowskiego. Przekonywał, iż plan Hymansa nale-
ży zaakceptować w  „dniu dzisiejszym” („Karys” 1921: 2). Jednakże tego 
samego dnia Rada Ministrów nie odważyła się przyjąć planu Ligi Naro-
dów i oficjalnie go odrzuciła. Sejm Ustawodawczy Litwy 22 grudnia 1921 r. 
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jednogłośnie zatwierdził decyzję Rady Ministrów o  niezaakceptowaniu 
planu Hymansa, który miał rozwiązać spór między Litwą a Polską (I  se-
sijos 156 posėdis 22.12.1922). Deputowany z  partii Ludowców Jan Stauga-
itis oświadczył, że Polska politycznie i ekonomicznie jest silniejsza, dlatego 
plan Ligi Narodów posłużył Polsce jako narzędzie, aby doprowadzić Litwę 
do związku federacyjnego. Przywódca Chrześcijańskich Demokratów My-
kolas Krupavičius podkreślał z kolei, że plan Hymansa jest nie do przyjęcia, 
ponieważ niesie niewolnictwo i  niszczy suwerenność państwa litewskie-
go. Natomiast Steponas Kairys, polityk Socjaldemokratyczny, skrytykował 
rząd za to, że pozwolił E. Galvanauskasowi i delegacji pod jego kierownic-
twem ulegać naciskom ze strony Ententy, nie zwracając przy tym uwagi na 
opinię litewskiego narodu. Przekonywał, że propozycja przewodniczące-
go P. Hymansa była tylko pierwszym etapem dla Litwy oraz nadal istnie-
je duże ryzyko utraty niepodległości. Podsumowując, apelował do sejmu 
o konieczności konsolidowania wszystkich sił społeczeństwa litewskiego, 
by utrzymać silną linię polityczną wobec Polski i Ligi Narodów. 

W  imieniu rządu litewskiego E.  Galvanauskas 24 grudnia 1921  r. 
w  nocie do Ligi Narodów powiadomił: „Rozważając propozycję Rady 
Ligi Narodów ze wszystkich stron, litewska Rada Ministrów jest zobli-
gowana z najgłębszym żalem nie zaakceptować jej zalecanego pojednania 
z Polską” („Lietuva” 1921: 1). Ernestas Galvanauskas wskazał następujące 
argumenty przeciwko planowi Hymansa: 1) po przyjęciu planu reforma 
rolna na Litwie byłaby zawieszona; 2) Litwa zostałaby włączona w pol-
skie wojny imperialistyczne; 3) Litwa, będąca małym państewkiem, stała-
by się prowincją Polski. Z analiz wynika, że realizowana reforma rolna na 
początku 1921 r. najbardziej dotknęła strachem litewską ludność wiejską, 
gdy grożono jej, w przypadku pojednania z Polską, zabraniem ziem litew-
skich przez polski establishment (Laurinavičius 2004: 257). Aby skonsoli-
dować litewski naród chłopski przeciwko planowi Ligi Narodów i Polski, 
największa frakcja Sejmu Ustawodawczego Litwy – blok Chrześcijańsko 
Demokratyczny, partie Ludowców i  Socjaldemokratów – wykorzystała 
ten lęk i namówiła E. Galvanauskasa do wpisania tego argumentu jako 
zasadniczej przyczyny odrzucania propozycji P. Hymansa (Steigiamojo Se-
imo atsišaukimas „Piliečiai” 1920).

Później w swoim memoriale przyszły prezydent Litwy K. Grinius pi-
sał, że jemu, E. Galvanauskasowi oraz J. Purickisowi plan Hymansa z mniej 
istotnymi poprawkami wydawał się do zaakceptowania, ale dla wielu nie-
odpowiedzialnych patriotów, zwłaszcza młodszego pokolenia – żołnierzy, 
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studentów, był nie do przyjęcia. Zdaniem K. Griniusa plan Hymansa w tym 
czasie był jedyną okazją do odzyskania Wilna. Był przekonany, że posiada-
nie własnej administracji, szkół i kierownictwa, jak również lokalnej armii 
litewskiej było dobrą opcję do możliwości połączenie Wilna z  Litwą Ko-
wieńską (Ilgunas 2000: 259). Augustinas Janulaitis, prawnik i członek sejmu 
z ramienia partii Socjaldemokratów, w swoim artykule pisał, że plan Hy-
mansa zasadniczo zmieniał stan prawa i konstytucję państwa litewskiego, 
prawo należało wyłącznie do Sejmu Ustawodawczego, a nie do kompeten-
cji Rady Ministrów. Dalej w  artykule potępiał wszystkich liderów partii, 
którzy w obawie o to, że plan Ligi Narodów stanie się przedmiotem debaty 
w sejmie, postanowili pełną odpowiedzialnością obarczyć E. Galvanauska-
sa i Radę Ministrów (Janulaitis 1921: 2).

Duet Voldemaras–Smetona uważnie i podejrzliwie śledził działalność 
i postawę E. Galvanauskasa w stosunkach z Polską. Na łamach organu pra-
sowego Partii Postępu Narodowego A. Voldemaras twierdził, że E. Galva-
nauskas był zwolennikiem planu Hymansa i chciał w jak najszybszym czasie 
plan ten uchwalić. Jednakże w ostatniej chwili, pod naciskiem Partii Postę-
pu Narodowego oraz socjalistów, był zmuszony odrzucić plan Ligi Naro-
dów. Następnie głosił tezę, że myśl polityczna litewskich socjalistów miała 
na celu odwrócenie Litwy od wpływów politycznych Zachodu i zwrócenie 
jej w kierunku Rosji radzieckiej. Natomiast celem politycznym Partii Postę-
pu Narodowego było uskutecznianie radykalniejszej retoryki antypolskiej. 
Gdy Partia Postępu Narodowego przegrała wybory do Sejmu Ustawodaw-
czego w 1922 r., nie uzyskała ani jednego mandatu. Nie mogąc pogodzić się 
z przegraną, rozpoczęła kampanię antyhymansowską, aby przeciwstawić 
się E. Galvanauskasowi, rządowi oraz sejmowi litewskiemu (Voldemaras 
1922: 1–2). Warto także zwrócić uwagę, że ściśle tajne bezpośrednie kontak-
ty z ambasadą Rosji, jakie utrzymywała Partia Postępu Narodowego, a nie 
partia Socjaldemokratów, potwierdzają współpracę tejże partii z Rosją ra-
dziecką. Archiwalia rosyjskie zostały zbadane przez profesora Uniwersyte-
tu Wileńskiego Zenonasa Butkusa. Z analizy tej wynika, iż E. Galvanauskas 
nie był zwolennikiem ani autorytarnego reżimu, ani liderów Partii Postępu 
Narodowego A. Smetony i A. Voldemarasa – jego wizja planu Hymansa 
wyróżniała się. 

Będąc już na emigracji, dyplomata Vaclovas Sidzikauskas, współpra-
cownik E.  Galvanauskasa, przyznał w  swoich pamiętnikach, że chociaż 
E. Galvanauskasowi nie udało się rozwiązać problemu granic z Polską, to 
jego stanowisko w tej sprawie było słuszne, ponieważ był on zwolennikiem 
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poprawy stosunków z  Polską. Zdaniem V.  Sidzikauskasa brak dążeń do 
zmiany stosunków z  Polską pod przymusem opozycji i  paramilitarnych 
organizacji, np. Związku Strzelców Litewskich, ułatwiał proces konsoli-
dacji narodowej, przyspieszał rozwój świadomości narodowej, wzmacniał 
determinację walki o wartości patriotyczne. Według prognozy politycznej 
V. Sidzikauskasa, jeżeli E. Galvanauskas przekonałby Radę Ministrów do 
zaakceptowania propozycji P. Hymansa w 1921 r., prawdopodobnie Wil-
no znalazłoby się w strefach sowieckiej Białorusi, a po II wojnie światowej 
w komunistycznej Polsce (Sidzikauskas 1970: 65).

Wnioski

W  niniejszym artykule podjęto próbę wykazania, że działalność dyplo-
matyczna E.  Galvanauskasa wobec planu Hymansa cechowała się prag-
matyzmem3. Jak pokazała dokonana analiza, w wielu przypadkach E. Ga-
lvanauskas kierował się bardziej intuicyjnym niż strategicznym wyborem 
instrumentów polityki zagranicznej. Chęć bycia odmiennym od poprzedni-
ka stanowi też próbę pokazania, iż E. Galvanauskas nie był tylko kontynu-
atorem polityki zagranicznej, jakiej oczekiwała skrajna litewska opozycja. 
Prowadzoną przez siebie politykę zagraniczną chciał kreować w taki spo-
sób, by wyróżniała się nie tylko pragmatycznością zastosowanych rozwią-
zań, ale i  stylem, który mógłby być mniej konfrontacyjny w stosunku do 
Polski. Kryzys polityczny na Litwie, który nasilał się od 1921 r., i regularna 
presja ze strony opozycji doprowadziły do definitywnego zerwania sto-
sunków dyplomatycznych z Polską, co skutkowało także tym, że rozmowy 
o przyjęciu projektu Hymansa ostatecznie zakończyły się niepowodzeniem. 
W ten sposób zmarnowano szansę na odbudowę choć namiastki Wielkiego 
Księstwa Litewskiego, związanego z Polską.

3	  Przez politykę pragmatyczną E. Galvanauskasa należy rozumieć wykorzystanie wszel-
kich okazji do realizacji interesów Litwy, również związanych z rozwiązaniami federacyjnymi, 
przy jednoczesnym zachowaniu poprawnych relacji z Warszawą. 
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